
The old parish and manor of Stonehouse covered twice the area of the modern town. The  
population grew from about 450 in 1600 to about 800 in 1750, then faster to about 1412 in the 
census of 1801. There were a few incomers from Europe before 1500, but by 1600 the      
population seems to have been drawn from England, Wales and Scotland.  

 
The main movements of about 90% of the men, 
aged over 16, who lived in Stonehouse between 
1600 and 1800, have been tracked from original 
records.  
 
These men would have provided about a third of the    
population. However, married women and children 
would have moved with them, so they can suggest 
what  happened to many people.  
 
 

Fewer than half of the men stayed based in Stonehouse for life. However, in 1600, net         
immigration, the excess of permanent incomers over permanent leavers, stood at about 10% 
of the men. This proportion increased in the 18th century, adding to the natural population rise. 
About 5% of the men could not be sufficiently tracked before 1750, rising to perhaps 25% after 
that. Most of these were probably incomers, a group growing relatively larger towards 1800 
than is shown here.  
 
Women were also mobile. Manorial records do 
not include them, but many may be traced as 
residents through the marriages made by two 
thirds of the men. Many young men and    
women found partners while working away for 
a time as apprentices, live-in labourers or  
servants. 
  
Four fifths of these marriages throughout the 
period were to women who came into the    
parish, before or after marriage. Young women 
would also have left Stonehouse.  
 
About 70% of the unmarried men left to settle 
elsewhere, although three quarters of these 
leavers had come in as visitors.  

 
 
 
Women could gain property by marriage, 
and  also provide access to it for their  
husbands. Sarah Taylor came to 
Stonehouse from Quedgley in 1727, when 
her father William became landlord of the 
Swan Inn, Stonehouse. She had three 
husbands who settled in the house in turn, 
the first from Longney, the second from 
near Cricklade in Wiltshire, and only the 
third born in Stonehouse.  

Former Swan Inn, Stonehouse High Street. Now Orchard House. 
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The woollen cloth industry in the Stroudwater 
district, although centred on water-powered 
mills, was still largely home based.  As its    
fortunes changed, cloth workers moved to 
where their skills were in demand. At least 
70% of both incomers and leavers moved  
within the local cloth valleys, but others went to 
cloth areas in west Gloucestershire, Wiltshire 
and the north. After 1750, the lower Frome  
valley coped better than some other parts with 
severe depression, and attracted cloth      
workers.  
 
 

The men who stayed in Stonehouse often held manorial properties with an            
agricultural base, but food prices were also linked to the cloth economy. Many trades 
also depended on it, and its management might require travel to London and other 
centres. However, it did not dictate all movement. Joseph Ellis, a clothier, died in 
1771 while at Spa, Germany for his health.  

 
A few men are known to have served          
temporarily as soldiers. Captain William      
Hopkins Hill, the son of a Stonehouse clothier, 
was killed in the South Seas in 1793. No cases 
of deliberate migration to or from places outside 
Great Britain were found, although there were 
one or two indirect links to Ireland, and not all 
movers were tracked.  
 
Roger Parslow, born in Minchinhampton in 
1595, was a blacksmith who settled in 
Stonehouse in about 1630. He prospered, and 
left property to his family in 1669.  
 
 

John Budding, born in Stonehouse in 1632, 
was a weaver who went to the Slad near 
Stroud, where he left a óbusinessô in 1687.  
 
William Rudman, a cloth worker from near    
Malmesbury in Wiltshire, was in Leonard  
Stanley as a trainee shearman in 1780. He 
drowned while living in Stonehouse in 1793.  
 
Thomas Carruthers, a mercer and possibly a  
Jacobite, came to Stonehouse from Annandale 
in Scotland in about 1703. He prospered, and 
in 1811 his great-grandson became lord of 
Stonehouse manor.  

Stonehouse 1600-1800: why did people move? 
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People moved before 1800, sometimes at the speed of a horse, but mainly on foot, in short 
stages. The Elizabethan poor law of 1601 brought together measures against vagrancy.     
Parishes could now raise poor rates to help their own, but there was no help for those moving 
to look for work. Many still travelled long distances, pushed onwards by parishes. Manors also 
discouraged óstrangersô, and where possible kept control of housing provision.  
 
 
In 1662 the settlement system was introduced. 
Armed with a certificate, a person could stop in 
a new place. If they fell into need, they could 
be óremovedô to the parish which had given 
them settlement, or be supported by it where 
they were. Vagrants without a settlement could 
be punished and moved on. The way these 
laws were applied shaped many lives.  
 

 
Elizabeth Gail married William Sparrow, the son of a Stonehouse        
carpenter, at Pitchcombe in 1718. He had left Stonehouse after the death 
of his first wife, but his settlement was still there. In 1726 the parish of 
Kenilworth in Warwickshire ordered that Elizabeth Sparrow and her 
daughter be removed to Stonehouse, where she died a widow in 1734.  
 
A turnpike trust took over the main road from Gloucester through 
Stonehouse in 1726, and the Stroudwater Canal opened in 1779, both 
improved travel routes which challenged movement controls.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

The navvies who built the canal were temporary visitors, but some of the 
people who managed and worked it settled at Newtown, on the edge of 
Stonehouse in neighbouring Eastington.  
 
Thomas Lewis, a labourer from Kidderminster in  Worcestershire, lived in 
Wiltshire with his wife before moving to Ebley in Stonehouse. He was  
appointed the first keeper of Ryeford Double Lock in 1780, and moved 
into the new lock cottage, built in 1784. He moved again to Eastington  
after 1815.  
 

 
Stonehouse before 1800 offered many opportunities, 
and would probably have attracted more incomers, 
but for the controls set by parish and manor.         
Economic and political change began to challenge 
these, and led people to move in new ways in the 
new century. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sources available from Stonehouse History Group  

Stonehouse 1600-1800: moving on 

Stonehouse Church and Court, parish and manor 

18th century milestone  
on the turnpike road  

at  Cainscross, in the old 
parish of Stonehouse 

Ryeford Double Lock, keeperôs cottage built 1784 
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The impact of the Second World War 
During the War the population of Stonehouse almost trebled (from around 2300 in 1931) - 
largely due to the importation of workers by the Hoffmann and Sperry Gyroscope companies 
for their ñshadow factoriesò (back-up for their parent factories near London).  
 
At the end of the War, many of the workers who had come to work in the shadow factories    
remained in Stonehouse. 
 
 
Frank Woodyard was born in February 1918.  From 1934, he worked in Hoffmannôs ball  
bearing factory at Chelmsford near London. 
 
Hoffmannôs ñshadow factoryò was under construction 
from 1939, in anticipation that there would be war 
with Nazi Germany.  Frank was one of a number of 
the workers who were asked if they were prepared to 
move to Stonehouse (there was no compulsion) and 
he agreed, not least because he thought it would be 
well away from any bombing.  
 
Workers were transferred to Stonehouse in small 
batches as construction progressed and different   
sections became ready for use.   

 
Frank came to Stroud by train, with 3 others, and they were met at 
Stroud Station by Jack Praill, chief inspector at the Stonehouse     
factory.   
 
Jack took them to a caf®, then to Stonehouse by bus. He then took 
Frank and one of his colleagues to lodgings at ñPendennisò on          
St Cyrilôs Road.  The owner, Mrs Keating, was their landlady. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Frank started work at the Stonehouse factory on 10
th
 December 1940 and he worked there  

until his retirement in 1983.  
 

Photos show Frank in his Hoffmann Home Guard uniform, his works pass  
and part of the  factory on the day he started work. 

War workers arrive 1939-1940 

ñPendennisò in 2015 

Construction photo taken in November 1939. 
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